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To Ellen Holly, my great-great-grandmother, and all other enslaved Americans who turned oxtails into soup and made chicken feet the highlight of holiday dinners.




 




They could turn seashells into whistles. They could make dolls from grass.




 




When their souls needed saving, they prayed at midnight in ditches and fields, cabins and canyons.




 




When they yearned for fun, they stomped and clapped the rhythm of dances and made music by blowing on combs.




 




Yet there were some sorrows they couldn’t banish.




 




Haunted by grief for lost spouses and children, they longed for love they could keep.
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FOREWORD










Much of what we think we know about African American history is only partly true.




According to the usual story, slaves gained their freedom by running away, being freed in their owners’ wills, buying their way out of bondage or having someone else buy them. But how do we account for people like John Bowley, who bluffed his family’s way to freedom, or Althea Lynch, a runaway slave whose cooking sprang her from jail? And what about all those enslaved blacks who managed to gain freedom by winning lawsuits in which state-appointed attorneys defended them?




Most people believe fugitive slaves ran only to northern states, or to Canada after it abolished slavery. But what about James Williams, a California Gold Rush miner and runaway, who journeyed to Mexico? What about the fugitives who wound up in Haiti, Nicaragua and the Caribbean? And what about places like Cass County, Michigan, once the site of black settlements where black freedmen and fugitives could vote, own land and enjoy other privileges not available in the rest of the country, North or South?




We’ve all heard that slave marriages had no legal standing, and that was certainly true. But what, then, are we to make of Nelson Gant, a free black man married to the enslaved Anna Maria? Their “marriage” not only withstood legal challenges but kept Nelson out of jail. Then there was Thomas Day, a free black man for whom the North Carolina legislature created a special loophole so that he could sidestep the law barring his free wife from entering the state?




Relationships between white men and black women are almost always portrayed as brutal or exploitive, yet a white South Carolinian named John L. Brown even forces us to rethink that image. After all, he risked being hanged to be with his beloved.




Runaways are most often portrayed as young single men who walked away from their families and never looked back. Many characters in this book defy that stereotype, too. They ran away with their families. They returned for their kin. And they rescued children whom they hadn’t seen in years.




Lurid tales about voodoo spells and love charms dominate many biographies of black California entrepreneur Mary Ellen Pleasant. But the alleged voodoo queen played a key role in liberating slaves in a state that was supposedly free. She also was a brilliant investor who owned eight homes and other property but was savvy enough to pretend to be her white business partner’s servant.




And speaking of magic, there often was more than a casual connection between enslaved people’s religious beliefs and slave uprisings. We all know the story of Nat Turner, leader of a Virginia slave rebellion that spread terror and death for miles. But many conjurers and root workers became leaders on slave plantations, healing the sick, interpreting mysteries and expressing the longings and resentments of a stolen and sold-off people.




In the early and usually secret plantation churches, ancient beliefs from West and Central Africa would gradually mingle with Christianity, but the resulting faith would have a different spirit. It would be passionate. It would be intense. And sometimes it would be dangerous. Peter the Doctor, a free African, rubbed an alleged magic powder on the clothing of the nearly thirty slaves who participated in the 1712 New York City Slave Rebellion. As a result, the slaves who participated considered themselves an unstoppable force.






Clearly, the saga of runaway slaves who successfully escaped isn’t just one story. It is the story of inventor Elijah McCoy’s abolitionist parents, who hid runaways in cigar-carrying wagons in Ypsilanti, Michigan. And it is millions of other stories, including tales of the former slaves and freedmen who wound up owning department stores, coal mines and even towns.




I hope that this book will help bring forgotten heroes and heroines to life.


























BOOK I




PRISONERS OF LOVE

























ONE




THE BIG BLUFF










No one yelled for the sheriff when a free black man named John Bowley showed up at a Maryland slave auction in December 1850. To the small crowd at the Dorchester County courthouse, Bowley was just another black man saying good-bye to the enslaved family he was about to lose. But the thirty-four-year-old husband and father hadn’t come to the courthouse to smell his children’s fear or kiss their tears. He hadn’t come to watch his wife shrivel up either—all her green hopes gone—as a slave trader hauled her away. He wasn’t that kind of man. He was a man who could build a ship from prime white oak and tar, pegs and passion, and then make it dance with him across the sea. The kind of man who could sail through storms and laugh at the wind. He brought no cash to the sale of his wife and children on the steps of the old brick courthouse in Cambridge, Maryland, but he brought something equally powerful.




He brought a plan.




His scheme would have made a riverboat gambler grin, drag his chair to the nearest poker table and prepare to bluff. His scheme was brash, tricky, risky and—in the eyes of most rational people—impossible. Yet it was Bowley’s last hope. Unless it worked, his wife and children would be sold on the courthouse steps. Unless it worked, his family would become the property of men who wore good suits, oozed charm, smelled like they’d been born sipping whiskey and gambled on just about everything, including the fate of their slaves.




Cambridge was the seat of Dorchester County on Maryland’s Eastern Shore, a place where quiet villages nestled along rivers with names that conjured up images of once-numerous Indian tribes—the Nanticoke, the Wicomico, the Pocomoke and, in the case of Cambridge, the two-mile-wide Choptank River. The Choptank churned with crabs so plentiful you could scoop them up from the sea grass at low tide. Bay trout, Spanish mackerel, shad, bluefish, herring, rockfish, white perch and oysters bathed in its waters, too. In the opinion of at least one observer, Cambridge was “the most picturesque town in Maryland in the eighteenth century.” It was the home of bald eagles calling to each other, Colonial Revival, Queen Anne and Georgian buildings, black squirrels, red foxes and great blue herons hunting lunch. But Cambridge and the rest of sprawling, river-rich Dorchester County also was the home of many men and women as desperate as John Bowley.




HENNY




One of Cambridge’s most memorable events had been the 1831 hanging of an enslaved woman named Henny. The recently whipped slave threw lye into her mistress’s face, fatally stabbed her and stuffed her body into a closet. The two women had argued after Henny’s mistress refused to give her sausage for breakfast. Two blacks, one free and one enslaved, also had been tried in Cambridge for trying to trigger a rebellion. The free black man was sentenced to seven years of hard labor in prison while the enslaved man was condemned to hang. Meanwhile, Hugh Hazlett, an Irishman working near Cambridge, would be convicted in 1858 of helping slaves escape and sentenced to forty-five years in the penitentiary. He was pardoned in 1864, but his original sentence surely made an impression. Even thinking about freedom could be dangerous. Reverend Samuel Green, a former slave in Dorchester County, was sentenced to ten years in prison for owning a copy of the antislavery novel Uncle Tom’s Cabin, the best-selling novel of the nineteenth century. He also had a map of Canada, schedule routes to the North, a railroad timetable and a letter from his son, a runaway slave in Canada, asking him to urge other slaves to flee to the far North. Green served five years of his sentence.




But in December 1850, John Bowley only had one thought, one goal, one wish and one prayer: saving his family. A small crowd of slave buyers gathered a little before lunchtime for the slave auction in front of the old courthouse on High Street at Spring. The sale had been advertised in newspapers before and then canceled: an August 1849 ad described John Bowley’s wife, Kessiah, as “Kizziah, aged about twenty-five years. She will be sold for life, and a good title will be given.” The county jail sat near the courthouse on Spring Street, housing slaves who had been sold or were about to be sold. Yet out-of-town visitors often clustered at Bradshaw’s Hotel on the corner of High and Church streets diagonal to the courthouse.




Slave dealers or their agents came to Cambridge from other states and cities to buy slaves. They would sell them in the Deep South at twice the price they’d paid in Dorchester County where, by the 1850s, large-scale plantations were rare. At Bradshaw’s Hotel, the men Frederick Douglass called “Georgia traders” could stand on the veranda and haggle with private sellers, wait for sales to begin, watch the auctions or, perhaps, drink. Methodist Episcopal Bishop John Fletcher Hurst, who lived in Cambridge as a boy, also remembered the “Georgia-man or slave trader, who sat in a splint-bottomed chair in the verandah of Bradshaw’s hotel and sunned himself and waited for propositions from slave owners. We boys feared him as a hobgoblin.” It is safe to assume that potential slave buyers inspected Bowley’s wife and children, peering at their teeth, poking their stomachs, kneading their muscles for signs of broken bones and trading comments on what they saw and felt. According to Douglass, slave traders won and lost slaves “upon the turn of a single card” and while “in a state of brutal drunkenness.” So some might have swapped bourbon-scented jokes about what a good breeder Kessiah Bowley would make.






John Bowley was a skilled, free ship’s carpenter and most likely lived in a boarding house only a block from the courthouse. Yet he’d been unable to raise the money to buy his family’s freedom. In fact, according to a notice he and his two brothers, Major and Richard, posted in a local newspaper in the winter of 1850, the Bowley brothers were waist-deep in debt and struggling to pay off their creditors. In a February 6 notice, they promised to “pay every cent” they owed by August 1, 1850, but it’s not known if they managed to do that. It’s also not clear what was draining the money of this family of skilled free seamen and tradesmen. At least one local historian believes John Bowley might have been “renting” Kessiah and her children from their owner, one way of keeping the family close together. All the same, cash-short John Bowley brought some not-so-obvious assets to his family’s sale. They included a web of resourceful relatives and friends and the self-assurance he’d gained as a member of Maryland’s free black community, a group that was then 12.8 percent of the total state population.




And his plot, his plan, would have made the Reverend Samuel Green, Hugh Hazlett and other freedom fighters proud. He meant to carry off his enslaved family in the stark light of midday rather than under a blanket of darkness. He intended to whisk Kessiah, James Alfred and Araminta away from courthouse officials and slave buyers and sellers without being questioned, stopped, restrained, jailed, whipped or re-enslaved.




John Bowley had no known history of helping to free slaves. Nor was he the kind of person that the first commissioners elected in Dorchester County in 1669 had worried about—he was no forger, no extortionist, no drunk, no practitioner of “witchcraft” and “enchantments,” no trespasser and no price-gouger. He had been freed while a young boy by Levin Stewart, member of a powerful and wealthy clan, but that freedom didn’t take effect until he was thirty-one years old. In the meantime, he and his brothers were trained as ship carpenters. That made them members of the county’s black elite. According to the 1850 census, of all 673 free black men in Dorchester County, 78 percent were laborers, 11 percent were farmers, 2 percent were ship’s carpenters, 5 percent were sailors, 1 percent worked as blacksmiths and 1 percent were general carpenters.




When the bidding for his family began, Bowley stood in the small crowd, waiting for the right moment to raise his voice and hopes. It is believed that he had managed to stall the sale of his family for about a year while he unsuccessfully tried to raise the money to buy them, but the time for stalling had passed. The value of a slave was determined by age, size, health, sex, disposition, whether the slave would be sold out of state and skills such as shoemaking, blacksmithing or carpentering. As a healthy young female with two children, Kessiah could have sold for as much as $500 to $600, the equivalent of nearly $10,000 in today’s dollars. Bowley made a bid that satisfied John Brodess, who was acting on behalf of his mother, Eliza Brodess, who owned Kessiah Bowley. Someone then removed the enslaved woman from the courthouse steps and set her aside while the auctioneer left to eat his noonday meal. That’s when John Bowley had to play the starring role in the drama that he and Kessiah’s aunt, Harriet Tubman, had plotted while exchanging letters. Bowley, according to later testimony from family members, left the crowd at the courthouse and fled with his wife and children to the nearby home of a white woman. The question is: How in the world did he do it?




THE GETAWAY




“The breakaway occurred on the day his mother (Kessiah) was to be sold at auction to another slave-owner,” wrote journalist Earl Conrad, repeating what he’d been told by Kessiah and John’s son, Harkless Bowley, who was born after their escape. “During the course of the sale, conducted at the courthouse, the auctioneer went to dinner. Meanwhile (Kessiah) was hidden in a house only a five minutes walk from the courthouse.”




It is tempting to dismiss this story as a bowl of oral history seasoned with spicy speculation and then stretched into a whole meal. Harkless Bowley, after all, wasn’t alive at the time his parents escaped and was relying on stories he’d heard from Tubman, his great-aunt.




Maryland historical researcher John Creighton still remembers what happened after he told the Bowley escape story to his eighth-grade American history class in the spring of 1972: A black student confronted him after class and insisted that the family’s escape from a white crowd in front of the courthouse just did not seem possible.




In those days, doubts dogged Creighton, too. “For over a century before 1850, enslaved people presumably had been sold there under similar circumstances,” he said. “Many precautions, probably including handcuffs, must have been taken by the enslaved person’s owner and the auctioneer.”




Yet, the Dorchester County courthouse contains testimony from a white farmer named Polish Mills that backs up Harkless Bowley’s description of his parents’ escape. Polish Mills was the brother of John Mills, coadministrator of the personal estate of Edward Brodess, Kessiah Bowley’s late owner. Edward Brodess’s widow filed a complaint before the court in 1855, claiming that John Mills had sold some of her slaves but failed to give her any money. After John Mills’s death, his brother, Polish, answered these charges. He repeated the story of Kessiah’s mysterious escape.




“She was brought out to be sold in front of the Court House door in Cambridge,” he testified, “…but it was found after the sale that she was purchased by her husband, a negro man, who when called in failed to comply—and they were then proceeding to sell her over, when it was discovered she had run away.”




Did John Bowley simply put his arms around his wife and children and slowly walk away from the rear of the courthouse, giving observers the impression that he had paid for them already? Or did one of his accomplices lead them away? Did Bowley manage to convince whoever was guarding his family that he was taking them to the auctioneer to make his payment? Is it possible that they were left unguarded or in the care of someone who was sympathetic to the Bowley family? Or did he have accomplices in even higher places?






“The auctioneer must have been in on it or the clerk of the court,” speculates Harriet Tubman biographer Kate Clifford Larson. “It seems inconceivable that [Bowley] would have been allowed to take possession of [Kessiah]. She would have been put somewhere secure. We think that perhaps the auctioneer may have been in on the deal—bribed perhaps, [or he was] a friend of Bowley’s.”




Whatever happened, John Bowley likely had help from several white and black residents of Cambridge, where he and his thirty-five-year-old brother, Richard, lived in the same boarding house and were well-respected craftsmen. When the conveniently absent auctioneer finally returned from his meal and called for the payment for Kessiah and her children, no one stepped forward. The auctioneer then began the bidding for the Bowley family again. Kessiah was “sold twice in one day,” according to Harkless Bowley, the second time “sight unseen.” By the time the auctioneer figured out that the family was missing, the Bowleys were hidden in the home of a white woman living in Cambridge, whose identity remains a mystery but whose house had to be nearby.




She probably was not a member of the Society of Friends or Quakers, a religious group often associated with antislavery movements. Members of that group did help Harriet Tubman move other slaves safely out of Dorchester County to Delaware. However, most Quakers in the Eastern Shore lived on farms distant from Cambridge. Most likely, the woman who hid the Bowleys was a closet abolitionist, someone whose antislavery sympathies weren’t known and whose house no one would think of searching.




AUNT HARRIET




John Bowley had created his family rescue plan with the long-distance help of Harriet Tubman, a woman often identified as his wife’s sister but who really was her aunt and was in Baltimore at the time. Slaves and free blacks had many ways of communicating. They gathered among bushes and in swamps for religious rituals. They swapped information while tending small private vegetable plots. They spread gossip about small and large events along an invisible wire that sometimes traveled for miles. Black educator and former slave Booker T. Washington described how a black man from his plantation who was sent to the post office for mail would linger there and gather gossip from the crowd. Washington called it the “grapevine telegram.” In Bowley’s case, his grapevine might have been enslaved or free black men who worked as deckhands, cooks or firemen or at other jobs on ships or loaded and unloaded cargo. It was they who spread news, personal messages, escape routes and gossip about people no longer in the area.




After hearing about Kessiah’s upcoming sale, Tubman had moved from Philadelphia to Baltimore. John Bowley and Tubman had traded coded messages along the Underground Railroad, an antislavery network that moved information as efficiently as it moved fleeing slaves. Unable to read or write, Harriet would have dictated her letters to Bowley. Standing no more than five feet tall, Tubman was a woman with such a large vision of her role in the freedom movement that she believed God spoke to her directly and would not allow her to fail. She had been born in Dorchester County, not far from Cambridge, and three of her sisters had been sold away by their original owners. Today, Cambridge and the world remember Harriet Tubman with museums, posters, boats, historical markers, parks, tours, children’s books, movies and a recent spate of adult books as well. In her day, though, she was a myth, a ghost, a slave rescuer whose existence many white Dorchester residents didn’t suspect and whose name they didn’t know for years.




“All of her trips…were carefully planned and brilliantly executed,” noted Robert W. Taylor, financial secretary of Tuskegee Institute, in a 1901 letter to a newspaper editor. “She told me that when she found her mother unwilling to leave behind her feather bed tick, and her father his broad axe and other tools, she bundled up feather bed, broad axe, mother, father—all and landed them in Canada.”




But if Tubman was Bowley’s trump card in his bid to free his family, it was he who had had to shuffle, cut and play those cards. Though free Maryland blacks lived in a world so restricted that they couldn’t captain ships, belong to secret societies or avoid paying property taxes supporting schools their children couldn’t attend, a few became blacksmiths and carpenters or infiltrated other trades—thereby gaining a broader knowledge of transportation routes and the wider world. John Bowley was such a man. While he and his brothers were apprenticed to Joseph Stewart, brother of their original owner, they’d learned a variety of shipbuilding skills. By 1848 they were all free and by 1850, they were all ship’s carpenters. They then hired themselves out as ship’s carpenters, benefiting from a tangle of relationships that stretched from Cambridge to Baltimore and beyond.




In most accounts of the Bowley escape, John and his wife and children fled Cambridge on the same night they sneaked away from the slave buyers and sellers in front of the courthouse. It is equally possible that they hid out for a few days, waiting for the outrage over their escape to lose some of its heat. Though harbors were watched at night, the family finally made their way to the Choptank River, where a small sailboat had been left for them. It was most likely a canoe made from several logs lashed together and topped by a sail. If northwest winds were sweeping down from Baltimore, their boat might have had a rough time sailing, but a seaman like John Bowley would have known what to do. He would have veered in and out of various creeks and narrows, following a zigzag course that brought him close to the wind and then away from it. It was a ninety-mile journey sailing from the Choptank River into the Chesapeake Bay and into Baltimore’s Patapsco River, and the Bowleys were targets for capture every mile of the way. Slaves were valuable commodities, and county slaveholders paid top prices to catch those who ran. A $150 reward was common for a runaway from the Eastern Shore, but during the 1850s, prices shot up. Fifteen hundred dollars was offered for a man named Joe Bailey, $300 for his brother Bill, and $800 for Peter Pennington in November 1856.




John Bowley’s journey took at least a full day of sailing and possibly several days. Once their ship entered the water, he could have held to his course, manipulating the rudder and center board and raising and lowering its sail. Harriet Tubman biographer Kate Larson believed the family “more than likely would have stopped a couple times along the way.” They most likely would have hidden in small, predominately black waterfront settlements such as Bellevue in Talbot County.




When the family finally reached Baltimore, one of Bowley’s brothers, possibly Major Bowley, met them there. The city’s thriving harbor provided many jobs that attracted free blacks and gave slaveholders a chance to hire out their slaves. In 1850, Baltimore had 140,666 whites, 25,442 free blacks and 2,946 slaves. John and Kessiah and their two children wound up in Fells Point, a famous downtown waterfront community that was within easy reach of the Patapsco River. Frederick Douglass had spent nine years of his childhood in this neighborhood where thousands would gather at shipyards to celebrate a ship’s launching. It was a neighborhood that smelled like paint and tar, roasted peanuts and perch; it also was a neighborhood that resounded with the sounds of ship’s craftsmen, who hammered, sawed and shouted. It teemed with merchants, shipbuilders and many free and enslaved black caulkers, stevedores, ship builders, carpenters and seamen. Several enslaved and free men from Dorchester County lived and worked in that neighborhood, including Tubman’s two brothers-in-law, Tom and Evans Tubman. Harriet Tubman was there, too, having journeyed to Baltimore from Philadelphia to meet the Bowleys. She hid John and Kessiah and their children among friends and relatives, most of whom lived along Slemmers Alley, which ran for only four blocks and was the home of a cross-section of the city’s free blacks.




Yet the southern city of Baltimore had its own trail of snares and traps. A law forbade blacks from leaving Baltimore by rail or water without being “weighed, measured and then given a bond signed by people well known locally.” As always, Tubman had to use her knowledge and craftiness to work her way around such hazards. In fact, she and other Underground Railroad conductors had to treat any trip into slave territory as a military campaign, a raid upon an enemy that could result in the harassment, wounding, kidnapping, jailing, return to enslavement or even the hanging of everyone involved. The majority of slave escapes probably failed, in part because slave catchers had so many weapons at their disposal, including the law and its officials, hired slave catchers and freelance bounty hunters.




After the Bowleys rested for a few days, Tubman probably obtained fake passes for the whole group from black female vendors in Baltimore’s marketplace. They then moved on to Philadelphia, the first large city north of the traditional slave states. At that moment, the Bowley family joined the ranks of the nearly three hundred slaves who successfully escaped from the border state of Maryland in 1850. In Philadelphia, the Bowleys would have found a city with a strong antislavery movement and activists such as Robert Purvis, who had inherited a fortune from his white South Carolina father, a cotton broker. Purvis’s home sheltered fugitives in a concealed room, and he and his wife used no slave-produced goods.




All the same, slave catchers operated in Pennsylvania, just as they did in other free states. In fact, in the days when Maryland’s notorious Patty Cannon was still alive, she and members of her gang would hang out in Philadelphia bars and buy drink after drink for black customers. Once these freedmen became too drunk to put up a fight, the Cannon gang would kidnap them. “These unfortunate people…were kept locked up in the tavern’s attic or on an island…until they could be loaded aboard schooners and sent away,” according to one chronicler of those times.




The Bowleys remained in Philadelphia for nearly a year, working and saving their money. Tubman also worked as a domestic and cook. Late in 1851, though, John and Kessiah and their daughter Araminta moved to Canada, no doubt for the same reason other American fugitives fled to the far North after Congress passed the strict Fugitive Slave Act of 1850. With slave catchers increasingly snatching runaways from the northern United States, the family no longer felt safe either from slave catchers or from the kidnappers of free black people. Many moved to Canada, widely viewed as the Promised Land despite having been a slave society until 1834. Canada had its own set of obstacles, often including racial prejudice and segregated schools. Yet in the 1850s, it provided legal protections and freedom from violence for thousands of American fugitives and a chance for the Bowleys to create lives together.




IN CHATHAM




They settled in Chatham, Ontario, in what was then known as Canada West, a port city some eleven miles north of Lake Erie and sitting on the Thames River. By 1855, it would have an all-black fire brigade, and by 1861, it would have the largest black population and highest proportion of blacks of any city or town in Canada West. Mary Ann Shadd, founder of an antislavery newspaper called the Provincial Freeman, moved from Toronto to Chatham in 1855. Emma Lawrence ran a boarding house there on the corner of William and Church streets. Martin Delany moved to Chatham in 1856 and began a medical practice. During the Civil War, he would return to the United States, help raise the 54th Massachusetts Colored Infantry Regiment and become a major in command of the 102nd U.S. Colored Troops. During the black community’s heyday in Chatham, several blacks also owned blocks—large buildings containing businesses. James Charity owned the Charity block on King and Adelaide streets, which housed the offices of the Provincial Freeman and Dr. Samuel C. Watson. Stanton Hunton owned the Hunton block on William Street near King. Nathaniel Murray built the Murray block on King Street East near William.




Chatham’s black citizens worked as laborers, field hands on the rich agricultural and fruit-growing lands, artisans, teachers, and ministers as well. Thomas Doston cut hair. John W. Taylor cut hair and also styled it. John Bowley may have tried farming, blacksmithing or other manual labor or worked on the waterfront. In the 1861 Chatham census, he was said to be forty-five years old and Kessiah thirty-seven, while other members of their household ranged in ages from one to seventeen, five of them described as Canadian born. Between the summer of 1855 and spring of 1856, Ben Ross, who had changed his name to James Stewart, and his wife, Catherine, originally named Jane Kane, also lived with John and Kessiah. Ben Ross was Harriet Tubman’s brother and Kessiah’s uncle.




JAMES ALFRED BOWLEY




Though John and Kessiah brought their baby, Araminta, with them, they left their son, James Alfred, in Philadelphia with Tubman to continue his education. In an 1868 letter to a woman writing a book about Harriet Tubman, James Alfred remembered “the trouble that you [Tubman] have underwent for me in my childhood days when you were compelled to work in service for one dollar a week in Philadelphia, the city of brotherly love and then give me [one] half of it for my care.”




The family’s constant push to educate James Alfred would pay off after the Civil War when he moved to Georgetown, South Carolina. There, he edited a newspaper, taught for the Freedmen’s Bureau and was elected to the state legislature. An 1867 newspaper article described him as “a laborer in the educational work.” While James Alfred prospered in South Carolina, another son of John and Kessiah’s—Harkless Bowley—became a teacher in Dorchester County, Maryland, during the 1880s. He then moved to Washington, D.C. He had benefited from living for a time with Tubman in Auburn, New York, where she would live for fifty years—not knowing that she would become the most celebrated black woman in America and have a street named for her in Ghana, West Africa, or that her rescue of Harkless’s parents would wind up in brochures promoting tourism in Maryland.




What happened to John and Kessiah Bowley following the Civil War was almost as dramatic, though, as their near-miraculous escape from a slave sale in front of the Dorchester County courthouse. It began when they decided to return to the United States. It’s not known exactly what made them go back, but they might have returned for economic reasons. By the late 1860s and early 1870s, for instance, “black businesses and professionals began to be squeezed out of the market causing a resurgence of the black migration” from Chatham, according to historical researcher Gwen Robinson. The end of American slavery also inspired some black Americans living in Canada to start wanting to believe in America’s unfulfilled yet lofty promises. The desire to find and reunite with relatives spurred some migrations, too, and so, no doubt, did Canada’s relatively chilly climate. Yet not even the abolition of slavery in the United States could end John Bowley’s career as a slave rescuer.






Sometime between 1865 and 1867, he and his family lived with Tubman for a year or two, in Auburn, New York, the city that nurtured the legal talents of Lincoln’s secretary of state, William H. Seward—the man who was shot but not killed on the same day as Lincoln’s assassination. In 1867 or early 1868, the Bowleys returned to Dorchester County, Maryland, to live with Kessiah’s father, Harkless Jolley, until they could buy their own land. That’s when John Bowley, who had defied weather and slave traders to steer his family to safety, took on yet another rescue mission. Maryland had written a new constitution in November 1864, banning slavery; however, many slaveholders indentured or pressed the children of their former adult slaves into a short-term form of enslavement that kept parents as well as children tied to former masters. The child apprentice system was supposed to guarantee the necessities of life and training in a trade to black youngsters and orphans but often wound up providing neither. Many people regarded the system as slavery in new clothes.




JOHN STEWART




Once Bowley returned to Maryland, John Stewart—one of Harriet Tubman’s brothers, who had changed his name from Robert Ross—asked Bowley to find his sons. Stewart had escaped to Canada to avoid being sold but had been unable to free his wife and children. He had not seen his sons, John Henry or Moses Ross, in more than a decade. John Bowley twice sailed across the Choptank River to rescue his two nephews, who held apprenticeships near Trappe, Maryland. Both youngsters were then sent to the crowded Tubman household in Auburn, New York.




Why did John Bowley keep risking his freedom and even life to rescue his kin? The answer might be more complicated than simply love for members of his family. As slaves and former slaves, Bowley and others like him would have understood that they could rely on no one but themselves for their continued survival. They also would have cherished the one thing no one could take from them—their ties to and memories of close relatives, distant relatives, sold-away relatives, lost relatives, dead relatives and people they had adopted informally on slavery-era plantations and farms.




This might have been why Harriet Tubman brought with her a whole group of family and friends, including two brothers and their families, when she settled near Auburn. This also could have been the reason Alfred Wood, a Civil War civilian scout and spy, brought home a fourteen-year-old boy who’d become separated from his regiment. The boy was wandering through Vicksburg, Mississippi, in the summer of 1864—a place then filled with people dazed by the roar of war and the smell of scorched lives. Once Wood decided to take the youngster home, it didn’t really matter that, in 1864, home for Al and his wife, Margaret, both runaway slaves from Mississippi, was a Union Army camp.




John and Kessiah spent the rest of their lives in Dorchester County, Maryland, where their people had lived and died. They made their home among folks who went to camp meetings where they embraced visions and wrapped themselves in golden hopes for days.




The Cambridge, Maryland, that John and Kessiah Bowley and their children knew doesn’t really exist today. The area’s oyster and vegetable packing and canning industries are long gone. The old Dorchester County courthouse on High Street and many of its records burned in a fire in 1852 and the current courthouse replaced it in 1854. The mid-nineteenth-century businesses that once stretched along High Street are history now, too: The street no longer has a silversmith, a coachmaker, a printer, a peddler or a hotel. In the rural parts of the county, the white oaks so valued by ship’s carpenters like Bowley—virgin trees that stood one hundred feet or more high—have all but vanished, too, though, here and there, younger oaks are rising up. Sharpshooter Annie Oakley is dead, though some visitors still recall how she made the town famous in the early twentieth century by shooting at waterfowl from the ledge of her home’s second-story windows. In the 1960s, Cambridge became famous for clashes between civil rights activists marching for change and people who wanted to freeze things right where they were. Soon, there will be no one left there who actually heard black power activist H. Rap Brown declare in a 1967 speech, “It’s time for Cambridge to explode, baby.”




Some things—some memories, some habits, some relationships with the natural world—endure, though.




People still stand on the banks of the Choptank, fishing for white perch and striped bass, croackers [sic] and spot [sic] and trout. (Is it true that croackers make a sound that is just like their name?) Clusters of fat and forbidding flies still bit unlucky visitors just as they bit white and black laborers working in the fields in eighteenth-and nineteenth-century Dorchester County. Countless creeks and rivers still crisscross the county, though mechanical straw balers and combines have replaced most field laborers. Now and then, a wild turkey crosses a road or a back country church emerges from the shadow of a tree. A highway sign detailing the exploits of Harriet Tubman is an unexpected reminder of the haunting power of history. White-tailed deer are here, too, an animal whom one admirer described in 1909 as “the least migratory, the least polygamous, the least roving, as well as the swiftest, keenest, shyest, wisest, most prolific…of our deer.” But in much of rural Dorchester County, the farmland stretches on and on, still and vast and now mostly silent.




Yet it doesn’t take all that much imagination to picture this land filled with people like John and Kessiah Bowley and Harkless Jolley and James Alfred and Araminta Bowley and all of their brothers and sisters and cousins and other name-changing kin. If you close your eyes, you can almost hear them talking on moon-bathed nights, their words running together and bumping into each other, soft and slurred yet full of purpose. On Madison Canning House Road, travelers can wander past some of Joseph Stewart’s endless tracts of land and recall that he helped design a six-or seven-mile-long canal to float cut logs to his shipyard on the west side of Madison Bay, some twelve miles west of Cambridge. From 1810 into the 1830s, enslaved blacks dug the canal through the marsh by hand. Whites and blacks cut, trimmed, hauled, rafted, floated or ox-carted timber to market. Meanwhile, on Stewart’s water-bordering land, a black man named John Bowley not only learned to be a ship’s carpenter but to think like one, measuring and planning, plotting and fitting pieces together, always looking for the angle that would make everything work.




John and Kessiah Bowley ran away from this land where people lived close to the sea and the land and understood their ways. Yet they returned to it after a Civil War in which thousands died while frying bacon, reading Bibles or shooting at their opponents from lines sometimes only seventy to eighty yards apart. The Bowleys came back to summer heat as fierce as an invading army. They came back to people who clung to and remembered each other. They came back to religious bands that sang without any music except for the anguish and longing of their funeral chants and moans. They came back to the deep waters of the Choptank and to the more shallow waters of the Chesapeake. They came back to an Eastern Shore culture in which people often shifted jobs with the seasons, doing whatever the warm, green lakes seemed to require. They returned to wooden boats and rivers that rose and fell according to the pull—the mood—of the moon. This land was the Bowleys to leave and theirs, they must have decided, to take back. They, after all, had worked it, walked it, farmed it, measured it, dug graves in it and in some way that even they might not have fully understood, loved it. It had given them and so many others the chance to turn trouble into triumph and the tragedy of slavery into the chance to learn and become something new.






















TWO




WATERS OF HOPE








…all the rivers run to the sea and the sea is not full.




—The Holy Bible














He had never helped a slave escape before, yet he agreed to row the girl across the sometimes calm and sometimes raging Ohio River. Hearts, minds and even weather could change overnight on the old Ohio. The river had spells so dry that escaping slaves could wade across it, almost skipping to freedom. Yet when winter thawed into spring, the river roared with the sound of ice cracking and thundering apart. The Ohio was unpredictable and sudden, passionate and, sometimes, impulsive. So, it turned out, was Arnold Gragston.




From the moment he met the young woman he described as “a pretty little thing, brown-skinned and kinda rosy,” his life shifted and swung around. Suddenly, the enslaved nineteen-year-old Kentucky man became willing to risk his life helping other slaves heap their plates with something he claimed he’d never craved—freedom.




He became a man who had something in common with Daniel Strawther and Jerry Jones, two black barbers in Marietta, Ohio, who listened carefully to their white customers for information they could sweep up, bag and deliver to the antislavery movement. He became an ally of fifty-year-old Jane, an enslaved, lame and “very fleshy” woman who managed to escape on a foggy night from Wood County, Virginia, with her seven children. He agreed to expose himself to the same dangers as Aunt Jenny of Parkersburg, Virginia, who signaled across the waters to Belpre, Ohio, abolitionists when slaves escaped.


[image: image]


Fig. 3. If the Ohio River could talk it might describe the tragedies and triumphs of the Underground Railroad. (Photo by Betty DeRamus)




He declared himself willing to risk just as much as Dick Naylor, a free black man who hung around the wharf in Wheeling, Virginia, pretending to be a tipsy bum instead of someone who ferried runaways across the river. And he put himself in the same peril as Harmar, Ohio, Underground Railroad conductor David Putnam, Jr., a man whom a rock-throwing, insult-hurling mob in Parkersburg, Virginia, had forced into the waters of the Ohio in 1839: A steamboat deckhand had to rescue him from drowning.




None of this would have been on Arnold Gragston’s mind, though, on the night he took his first step toward joining the freedom movement. He was on his way to court a different young woman, but he ran into an elderly woman who urged him to ferry a runaway slave girl across the Ohio River, the watery boundary separating Kentucky and western Virginia from the free states of Ohio, Indiana and Illinois. At first he said no, but he changed his mind when he saw the girl, who looked as scared as he felt.




He wasn’t ready to take her across the river that first night, though. It took another day for Gragston to steel his nerves and smooth away the rough edges of his fears. Slave catchers patrolled the counties along the river, and Gragston, according to his later testimony, couldn’t help thinking about what might happen if he were caught: the hounds lunging for his legs, the rawhide whips tearing open his back and his possible sale to another, sterner master. But the brown-skinned girl’s face drove out all the other images swimming around in Gragston’s head. The Mason County, Kentucky, man showed up the day after meeting the girl, prepared to row her to Ripley, Ohio, a small Ohio River town where free blacks and whites hid and transported fugitive slaves on the secret antislavery network known as the Underground Railroad.




THE RIVER REMEMBERS




Before the West was settled, the Ohio River bore few signs that men had used it, but later it became an eyewitness to history. If the river could talk it would tell many stories about the joy and violence, dangers and desires of the people who came to its shores. It transported such larger-than-life characters as apple-planting Johnny Appleseed and Mike Fink, the brash boatman who once allegedly shot off a black man’s heel during a shooting contest with another white man. John Hunt Morgan, the Confederate raider, crossed the river in 1863, bringing the Civil War to Indiana and Ohio’s back door. The river also was watching as some thirteen thousand Cherokee passed through Salem, Kentucky, in 1838–39 on the Trail of Tears, their forced relocation from their homes in the southeastern United States to Oklahoma. Accompanied by their black slaves, the Cherokee entered Livingston County at Salem and eventually crossed the Ohio River to Golconda, Illinois. The river became best known, though, for the Underground Railroad stationmasters who crossed it to move hundreds or perhaps thousands of runaway slaves toward Canada. Some freedom seekers called it “the River Jordan,” after the biblical river the Israelites crossed to escape Egyptian slavery and reach the Promised Land.




The most famous Ohio River freedom story was the fictionalized tale of Eliza, heroine of the novel Uncle Tom’s Cabin, who fled to the river with her five-year-old son, Harry, and crossed the ice by leaping from one ice floe to the next. But the river also played a role in the even more dramatic story of fugitive Margaret Garner, who cut her youngest daughter’s throat to save her from slavery and then lost her second daughter two months later when the child drowned.




The river had watched as farmers on its free Ohio side sometimes rented or borrowed slaves owned by their friends or relatives on the Virginia side. The river shared the grief of Allen Watkins, a Kentuckian whose first wife committed suicide after being separated from her husband and children. Watkins later fled with his children to the Ohio and hid atop a two-story bridge, escaping, finally, to Canada. The river certainly knew Sam Alexander, a slave taken aboard the riverboat Thomas Swan after being sold at the Wheeling, Virginia, slave market. Waving his hands, Sam yelled “good-bye boys” and plunged into the Ohio: He was never again seen by the people on the boat but managed to swim to shore; eventually he was taken on horseback to a free black man who helped him escape.




THE BEAR




The river also was rushing along its 967-mile course on that day in 1846 when sixteen-year-old John Curtis and two younger boys escaped from a plantation in Rockingham County, Virginia, propelled by John’s fear that he had killed their master with a farm tool. The runaways fell in with a slave catcher who pretended to be their friend but planned to resell them. However, an innkeeper created a diversion and told them how to escape. With dogs and bounty hunters trailing them, John Curtis and his brothers reached the Ohio River and hid in a nearby cave. Curtis and his brothers stayed in the cave for two months, eating a bear Curtis had killed with a large piece of sandstone and huddling under the animal’s warm hide. John Curtis later discovered he hadn’t killed his master and managed to borrow the money to buy freedom for himself and one of his brothers. “I heard that story about John Curtis killing that bear [so often] that I know it by heart,” says Ohio historian Henry Burke, a Curtis descendant. “Bears still roam around that part of the country.”




THE FEUD




The river even inspired legal feuds and bitter courtroom battles. It was the scene of the continuing war between slave owner George Washington Henderson, who owned a plantation in Wood County, Virginia, and Underground Railroad conductor David Putnam, Jr., who lived across the river from Henderson in Harmar village near Marietta, Ohio. George Washington Henderson and Elizabeth Henderson lived in well-polished, slave-assisted luxury. Their house’s smaller, two-story wooden back wing was completed by slave labor ten years after Henderson and his sixteen-year-old bride (who stood about four foot eleven but would produce twelve children) arrived as newlyweds in 1826. By 1859, the house had gained a larger three-story front section and become known as Henderson Hall: The hall was the centerpiece of a plantation, horse breeding farm and river port. But it had a dangerous location for a slave-manned plantation, and nothing could change that, not even its lace curtains, hand-painted china, French-patterned wallpaper, daybeds and mammy benches for slave women cradling white babies.




Squatting on the banks of the triangle where the Muskingum and the Ohio River came together, the Henderson plantation stared night and day at the free state of Ohio. Less than a mile from Henderson’s plantation, the river was a constant temptation to his slaves. Between June 1837 and April 1849, there are at least seventeen documented cases of slaves’ escaping from Henderson’s plantation. The runaways included at least one slave who fled to Canada, sent Henderson a letter of apology, returned to Henderson’s plantation and then ran again, this time with his family.




The first stop for many runaways fleeing western Virginia was the house of Ohio grocer David Putnam, Jr. More than six feet tall, Putnam was described as a “big-framed, broad-shouldered, long-armed son of nature.” He was the great-grandson of Major General Israel Putnam, who reportedly left his oxen and plow standing in the fields when he marched off to fight in the Revolutionary War. David Putnam, Jr., like his great-grandfather, never backed away from a fight—or a chance to help fleeing slaves. Increasingly frustrated by slave escapes, George Henderson slapped David Putnam with a lawsuit in 1847, accusing him of enticing nine of his slaves to run away after they had crossed the river to sell chickens in Marietta. Henderson’s debt case against Putnam for each of the nine slaves was dismissed for lack of jurisdiction on October 20, 1852. In the second suit, Henderson requested ten thousand dollars for breach of a lifetime labor contract between himself and his slaves. In 1853, one of Henderson’s attorneys asked that the case be dropped after Putnam allegedly found a witness who would testify that one of the fugitives was still in Virginia at the time he was supposedly in Putnam’s house. However, even if Henderson hadn’t dropped the suit, it would have failed because of a loophole in the Fugitive Slave Act of 1850. Cases pending during the passage of the 1850 act were automatically dismissed because there was no language in the new law keeping those old cases alive, according to a Supreme Court decision in an Indiana case.




Oh, yes, the river knew stories.






ARNOLD




Still, young Arnold Gragston of Mason County, Kentucky, probably would not have known about Sam Alexander’s leap of faith into the Ohio or about John Curtis’s epic struggle with a bear or about the tug of war between George Henderson and David Putnam, Jr. He also was not likely to have known about a runaway slave named Micah, who crossed to the north side of the Ohio and traveled along the Muskingum River to Owl Creek. Captured by a group that included his owner, Micah fatally stabbed his owner’s son during a struggle. The group executed him about six miles west of Cumberland in Guernsey County, Ohio, leaving him in a shallow grave. Arnold Gragston also might not have understood the trancelike power of rivers, their almost hypnotic sway, or how crossing one could become a routine, a ritual, a need that changed a man for good. He simply wanted the girl with fearful eyes to stay safe.




On his first night as an Underground Railroad conductor, Gragston listened carefully to his instructions. He was told to deliver the young woman to the Reverend John Rankin in Ripley, Ohio. Rankin, who had six sons, was so notorious for helping fugitives that the state of Kentucky had offered a twenty-five-hundred-dollar reward for his kidnapping or killing. And for a time he’d headed his own antislavery branch of Presbyterianism known as the Free Presbyterian Church.




Rankin’s house, with its hundred stairs of rough stones and wood, sat atop a hill overlooking the entire town of Ripley, the Ohio River and the Kentucky shoreline. It gave him a sweeping view of approaching slave catchers on horseback. The house may have sheltered more than two thousand fugitive slaves on the road to freedom, men, women and children guided by the lantern that Jean and John Rankin kept burning in the upper window of their home. The passage of the Fugitive Slave Act of 1850 had made helping fugitive slaves much more dangerous and difficult. Ex-slaves could be recaptured in free territory and returned to their masters, and anyone sheltering them could be heavily fined. Moreover, despite Ripley’s reputation as a slave haven, Ohio itself, as black leader Frederick Douglass pointed out, was “polluted—she is disgraced by her villainous black laws.” He referred to state laws that, among other things, prohibited the testimony of blacks against whites, a product, according to Douglass, of “pandering politicians.”




Yet no slave was ever recaptured from the Rankin home, even though the family hid as many as twelve slaves at a time. On one occasion, Rankin disguised himself as a woman and crossed into Kentucky with a group of young men. While bounty hunters armed with rifles and dogs chased him and his group, the true objects of their hunt—an enslaved woman and her children—fled to Canada. Ripley’s other famous conductor was John P. Parker, a free black iron foundry owner and former slave who had escaped bounty hunters by, among other things, hiding in coffins and even diving off a steamboat into the river. Parker claimed he had “an eternal hatred” of slavery and proved it by rescuing an escaping couple’s baby from the bedroom of the child’s sleeping owners.




When Arnold Gragston began crossing the Ohio River, it was 1859, the year of John Brown’s raid on Harpers Ferry. It also was the year in which Meredith and Mary Calhoun, owners of seven hundred Louisiana slaves, abandoned America for France and left their estate in the hands of a son who made a black woman his common-law wife and became a radical, antislavery Republican. Also in 1859, a Frenchman named Charles Blondin crossed Niagara Falls by walking on a cable stretched across the water. Later, he made the same crossing while blindfolded, while pushing a wheelbarrow, while walking on stilts and while carrying a man on his back. Blondin could not have been more nervous than Arnold Gragston on his first slave rescue. The river current was strong that night, and Gragston trembled as it rocked him; he was cold and nearly blind in the dark. But then he saw the light of Reverend Rankin’s lantern and headed for it. Two men welcomed the girl, and one of them took Gragston’s arm and asked if he were hungry. That ended his first trip, but it didn’t satisfy his taste for the mingled excitement and fear he had felt on crossing the river.






Sometimes Gragston took two or three people to Ripley and “sometimes a whole boatload,” he claimed. He estimated he made three and four trips a month and helped “more than a hundred” fugitives. He never really saw any of the other passengers clearly but always asked them, “What you say,” and they answered “Menare,” the password he’d been taught. He proceeded with care on his night voyages for fear slave owners might follow him and recapture their slaves.




Yet something—a need for purpose, perhaps, or a relish for risks—made Gragston keep returning to the sometimes green, sometimes blue and sometimes brown-looking river. He “got to liking it,” was his only explanation for freeing other people while remaining enslaved himself. He made no money, he added, from rowing people to freedom. He never saw the brown-skinned girl again either and eventually married another woman. All the same, he spent four years helping slaves escape and spending his nights at the river where the water flowed to its own sometimes steady and sometimes rousing beat. Like all great rivers, the Ohio was awash in meanings, most of them contradictory. It represented seagoing adventures and contented fishing, cleansing baptisms and muddy pollution, rescues and drownings, peace and storms, the development of river-facing towns and cities and the need to escape from them. It had currents that could overwhelm a rower but that could save him as he crawled ashore. Gragston suspected that his owner knew about his romance with the river and his slave-freeing activities, but that wasn’t enough to make him stop what he was doing or even pause.




When interviewed decades after the end of slavery, Gragston insisted he’d never longed for freedom himself despite living in a state where lawns were sometimes used as auction blocks and where Harriet Beecher Stowe saw naked, chained and shackled slaves sold to the highest bidder. Gragston had been born on Christmas Day on the John L. Tabb plantation in Mason County, Kentucky. According to Gragston, John or “Jack” Tabb “used to have a special slave who didn’t have nothin’ to do but teach the rest of us…how to read and write and figger.” Not even the beatings that sometimes occurred when Virginia-born Tabb didn’t feel his slaves responded quickly enough to a summons were enough to turn Gragston against the institution, he insisted. Gragston told the slave narrative collectors who later interviewed him that he believed the beatings might have been a cover to keep Tabb’s neighbors from thinking he was too soft on his slaves. Since twentieth-century interviews with former slaves were sometimes reviewed, edited or even rewritten, there’s no way to tell if Gragston’s interview represents the full range of his feelings about beatings and enslavement.




In the 1860 census, John L. Tabb and his wife, Hannah, owned real estate valued at $7,350 and personal property worth $11,525. Three years later, one important piece of their property bolted and ran. In 1863, Arnold Gragston finally took flight. He had carried about a dozen slaves across the river that night. As soon as he stepped out of the boat on the Kentucky side, slave catchers began chasing him. He hid out in cornfields, in the woods, in a hay pile. Gragston and his wife then slipped across the Ohio themselves, joining the thousands of other fugitives for whom the river bore a number of names, including Canaan and the River Jordan, all whispering of freedom. Eventually, they settled in Detroit but would later return to live in Ripley. When an interviewer for a federal writing project talked to Gragston, he was living in Eatonville, Florida, an all-black town five miles from Orlando. Author Zora Neale Hurston, who lived in Eatonville, would describe it as a place of sand and orange groves, mangrove trees, scrub pine and shiny pride. For Arnold Gragston it might also have been a place where a former slave could eat sun-caressed fruit and sip bittersweet memories of the days when he risked everything for a place in history and a thank-you—however brief—from a pretty girl.






















THREE




HE HAD TO HAVE HER






Stand fast, and do not be caught again under the yoke of slavery.




—Galatians, 5:1, The Holy Bible













Nelson Gant’s life was in the hands of the woman he loved, but nobody could be sure how steady those hands were. The woman was Nelson’s wife, Anna Maria, but she was a slave who’d just spent a month in jail. The authorities had battered her with questions and worn her thin with threats. Unless she turned on Nelson, they warned, she’d end up plucking cotton or hacking sugar cane in some soul-sapping patch of the Deep South. One whiff of weakness, one shaky step or blurted-out word and Anna Maria could condemn her husband.




Would she stick to the story that might shield Nelson from prison?




Or would she crack and betray him?




It was December 1846, and Nelson Talbot Gant’s third scheduled trial for stealing his wife from slavery was about to begin in Virginia’s Leesburg County Courthouse. It was a trial in which things would be said that had never been said in an American courtroom before, and it was a trial that would make history. It also was a trial that could have doomed Nelson to prison for two to ten years, and a case that Nelson seemed certain to lose. His only defense was that he loved Anna Maria and she was his wife, but that turned out to be enough. On his day in court, Nelson’s attorneys became magicians, making southern customs disappear, sawing the law in half and even, for a few hours, forcing white slaveholders to see life through the eyes of a former slave.




There was nothing in Gant’s early life to suggest he’d be the defendant in a nationally known trial dealing with everything from God’s opinion of love and marriage among slaves to witnesses who weren’t at all sure who or what they’d seen in the shadowy land between night and day. Nor was there anything to hint that one day an amusement park and stadium would bear Gant’s name or that he would own a coal mine or that customers for his produce would crowd his porch, gulping down strawberries and cream.




He had been born a slave on May 10, 1821 or 1822, on the Wood-burn estate in the foothills of northern Virginia, some three miles southwest of Leesburg and forty miles northwest of Washington, D.C. Blacks were not newcomers in Leesburg, the seat of Loudoun County: They’d arrived with the first European settlers in the 1720s. By 1840, the low ridge east of the Catoctin Mountain was the home of so many blacks it had become known as Negro Mountain.




JOHN NIXON




Nelson’s enslaved mother died giving birth to him, passing away on the path leading from her quarters to the home of her master, John Nixon, according to stories handed down by Gant’s descendants. As the son of Nixon or some other white man, the bright-skinned Nelson was raised by Eve or Edith Gant, one of John Nixon’s house servants. Nixon was a canny farmer who would one day free his slaves. He also was a man who sometimes seemed able to pick up shifts in the wind and smell changes before they arrived. He built his barn out of brick rather than wood, making it one of the few local barns that didn’t burn during the Civil War. Nixon and his more than twenty slaves plowed wheat and corn fields, grew apples, oranges and lemons, kept dairy cattle, sheep, goats, hogs and horses and ground wheat into flour with a gristmill. Eventually, Nelson became a house servant like his adoptive mother, likely cleaning, gardening, marketing, serving food—and paying close attention to everything he saw and heard.




By all accounts, Nelson Gant, even while enslaved, was a man whom people noticed, a man who left large footprints, a man who seemed to fill up a room. His freedom certificate called him a “tall, bright mulatto, with no particular scars or marks,” suggesting he had not been beaten or misused by his master. His freedom papers also said he stood about five foot nine and three-quarter inches tall, but some observers would later insist he was a much taller man. Author Thomas W. Lewis, who knew Gant, described him as having “a height exceeding six feet and a frame large and well proportioned.” Lewis also claimed that Gant was “a man whom strangers were wont to turn and look at. There was a distinction in face and form. He spoke with weight, and deliberately choosing his words.” In photographs of Gant in old age, his strong-featured face resembles drawings of freedom fighter Frederick Douglass.




ANNA MARIA




The life of this tall, or tall-looking, man with no outward scars changed when he met and fell in love with Anna Maria Hughes, a woman with soft ways but a steely will. By all accounts, Nelson’s love was no lukewarm, watered-down love. It was love bubbling on a stove, love shouting at the low-slung midnight moon, love yanking a man out of bed so he’d have time to walk around dreaming. Anna Maria was a house servant to Charlaye Ann Elizabeth Jane Russell, who lived on Market Street in downtown Leesburg. She had been born around 1826 and was among a group of slaves that Sarah Elizabeth “Betsy” McCarty gave to her three never-married daughters, Eliza, Sarah and Charlaye Ann Elizabeth, Anna Maria’s principal owner. McCarty was the widow of Thaddeus McCarty, George Washington’s cousin. Nelson’s stepsister Winifred likely introduced him to Anna Maria, known as Maria and described in court proceedings as a “dark mulatto woman” worth four hundred dollars. Anna Maria and Winifred both attended the Leesburg Methodist Church. According to one source, Anna Maria had been allowed to attend the colored Sunday school of the Methodist Church early in life, perhaps when she was as young as twelve.




Romantic love had a tough time thriving in slavery’s thin, constantly shifting topsoil: There was nothing to feed it, nothing to help hold it in place. Slave owners could choose their slaves’ spouses, could breed them like animals and could separate people who considered themselves married at any time. All the same, slaves did form shaky unions they called marriages with other slaves or with free blacks. However, Nelson and Maria took their “marriage” a step further than most enslaved people. They weren’t casually “married” by their smiling owners in a yard or on a porch, nor did they jump over any broom. In 1843, they repeated their marriage vows before the Reverend Samuel Gover, a Methodist minister and probably Maria’s Sunday school teacher.




However, Nelson Gant became a husband boxed in and betrayed by love when his owner, John Nixon, of Loudoun County, Virginia, died in 1844 after a long illness. In his will, the farsighted Nixon freed “all my slaves of every description, old and young male and female” and directed that his executors move them to a free state as soon after his death as possible. According to an eastern antislavery activist who had visited Nixon, the slave owner had been uneasy for a long time about owning slaves. He was equally uneasy about what his relatives might do if he decided to let his slaves go. Prospective heirs often tried to halt or prevent their relatives from freeing slaves. In one extreme case, a white Virginia planter named George Wythe willed one-third of his estate to his mulatto cook and another third to her son and, presumably, his. Wythe’s outraged grandnephew, George Sweeney, poisoned all three. The woman survived but couldn’t testify against a white man in court. As a result, Sweeney was never punished for his crime.




But John Nixon—a man who was adept at smelling trouble on the way—had been wise enough to do more than simply free his slaves in his will; he provided enough money for one of his executors to move them to a free state and buy land. That would keep them from breaking the law by lingering in Virginia once freed. Under a law passed in 1806 but later modified, all newly freed blacks had to leave the state within a year unless they had special permission to stay. Plagued by bloody dreams since Nat Turner’s 1831 rebellion resulted in the deaths of some sixty whites, slaveholders in Virginia and elsewhere worried that independent-minded free blacks might spark and lead revolts. But where did all of this leave Anna Maria Gant?




When twenty-three-year-old Nelson Gant received his freedom on September 9, 1845, he joined the ranks of Virginia blacks who were free on paper but not all that free in fact. At the time, it would have been a crime for him to buy liquor without written permission from three or more judges. It also would have been a crime for him to preach because that might stir up slave rebellions; it would have been a crime to own a dog because dogs would fight for their owners; a crime to learn to read and write in Virginia or to return home after learning to read and write somewhere else; a crime to shave a white man, a crime to run a tavern, a crime to prepare medicines that could cause abortions, a crime in some towns to smoke in public—and, of course, a crime to keep his newly freed self in Virginia. It might just as well have been a crime for him to love since, ironically, his freedom threatened his marriage.




For some of the other slaves freed by John Nixon, the freedom trail led to Zanesville, Ohio, possibly because some antislavery Quakers in the Leesburg area knew abolitionists in Zanesville. But there was no swift, straight-ahead path to a different life for Nelson Gant. He couldn’t simply walk, run or ride off into the future and see how it tasted and felt. He had to figure out how to free the woman he claimed again and again that he couldn’t live without—and he had to figure it out quickly.




He stayed in Virginia as long as he could, trying to pile up some money. He even took a job chopping wood along the Potomac River near Leesburg, reportedly cutting five hundred cords of wood for forty cents a cord. By the 1830s, lumbering had become an important industry. Large stands of timber were cut down to provide bark for tanning, fuel for fireplaces and stoves and to build homes, barns, canal boats, shops and locks. Wood cutters were in such high demand that, in July 1846, the Potomac Furnace advertised for “one hundred wood choppers.” Yet Nelson found it impossible to hold on to any money; by the time he paid for his food and shelter, he had little left. Meanwhile, his wife’s owner refused to put a price on Anna Maria’s freedom. Apparently she was not moved by Nelson’s insistence that he “could not live…without the person who was more dear to him than all the world,” according to a newspaper account. Around this time, Nelson also was brought before a grand jury for staying in the state longer than twelve months. He was acquitted but ordered to leave Virginia in early September 1846. Before leaving, he promised his wife that he would return for her in six weeks; he also told her where they would meet. His plan was to earn more money, come back and make another offer for his wife’s freedom. Yet, like any man in love, he was prepared to go much, much further than that.




Nelson likely took the National Road through Cumberland, Maryland, across the low ridge known as Negro Mountain. He then would have headed east of the Catoctin Mountains into Washington County, Pennsylvania. As the southernmost free state, Pennsylvania was a popular destination for Loudoun County runaways and emigrants. When Samuel Janney, a Quaker and antislavery activist from near Leesburg, visited Pennsylvania in 1845, he was struck by the number of blacks he recognized from his corner of Virginia. In Washington County, Pennsylvania, former slaves from Loudoun County put Nelson Gant in touch with Dr. Francis Julius LeMoyne and his wife, Madeline. LeMoyne was a physician and professor at Washington College who helped start the Western Abolition Society in Washington, and he also was part of the sometimes organized and sometimes spontaneous network of slave-aiding abolitionists known as the Underground Railroad.




It is presumed that Nelson then detoured north to Pittsburgh where he met Martin Delany, whose family had fled their home in present-day West Virginia after young Martin was discovered reading, an illegal activity for slaves. During the Civil War, Delany would be appointed a major in the United States Colored Troops, making him the highest-ranking black officer in the Regular Army. Some historians believe Nelson also crossed the Ohio River into Zanesville where he learned more about the Underground Railroad, probably from other freed John Nixon slaves, and met A. A. Guthrie and other Zanesville and Putnam abolitionists. In the fall of 1846, Nelson Gant returned to Loudoun County, Virginia. By then, arrangements had been made to put Maria on the freedom train and whisk her out of Leesburg.




Gant, however, made one final attempt to buy Maria’s freedom. Turned down, he left Virginia. Soon after Nelson’s departure, his wife’s owner received some jarring news. While Maria was working for her owner’s neighbor, county clerk Charles G. Eskridge, she, too, had disappeared. For reasons that aren’t known, Eskridge didn’t report her absence for three days. Meanwhile, the couple had journeyed to nearby Washington, D.C., where they were directed to the home of a black man who soothed them, sheltered them and then turned them over to the authorities, presumably for a reward. The Gants were arrested and jailed.




THE TRIAL




Before being taken back to Leesburg, Maria spent eight days in a Washington, D.C., jail. Gant spent thirteen days in jail awaiting his first trial, which was canceled when Virginia governor William Smith ordered him shipped back to Virginia for trial. Maria then spent twenty-two days in the Leesburg jail where “every effort known to the master to make the slave confess” was used to pressure her to say Nelson had lured her away. Nothing worked, not even the threat of selling her to a planter who would put the Sunday-school-reared house slave to work slashing sugar cane, planting rice in watery fields or chopping cotton. It turned out she had more spine—and, obviously, more love for Nelson—than her jailers and owner had suspected. She continued to insist that she had run away and then Nelson had followed her.




In Loudoun County, a November court date for Gant’s trial was postponed because the prosecuting attorney wanted to wait for the arrival of witnesses. Finally, in December 1846, Gant stood trial in the Loudoun County’s courthouse in Leesburg, charged with attempting to steal his wife from slavery.




Nelson’s defense team wisely stressed the strength of Nelson and Maria’s feelings for each other, pushing members of the judicial panel to put themselves in the couple’s tight, slavery-made shoes. In fact, defense attorney R. P. Swann made an eloquent plea for recognizing that Nelson and Maria were as committed to each other as any white couple.




“This man has been united in holy wedlock to a woman for whom he has evinced the strongest feelings of attachment,” Swann insisted. “Although his skin wears a different hue from ours, we cannot doubt that the feelings of his heart are the same. Their vows have been registered in the chancery of Heaven; and shall we attempt to set the laws of man above the Divine law, by separating those whom God hath joined? The Ethiopian may not change his skin, nor the leopard his spots, but if it were possible for the prisoner at the bar to step forth in the complexion and lineaments of the Anglo-Saxon race, there is not a man on that bench, nor in this assembly, who would not applaud the deed for which he now stands arraigned as a felon.”




Anna Maria was the first witness called. It is not difficult to imagine the mix of feelings that must have all but overwhelmed an enslaved woman who was only twenty, raised on Sunday school lessons and nearly faint from the fear that she would lose Nelson. She must have looked and acted like a terrified but devoted wife, which set the stage for defense attorney J. S. Carper’s next startling argument.




If Anna Maria and Nelson Gant’s marriage was recognized in heaven, if not on earth, Carper noted, “It was a point well settled in law, that the testimony of husband and wife cannot be taken either for or against each other, because the law regards them as so identified in feeling and interest that their evidence cannot be relied upon.” Moreover, Carper noted, the prisoner’s wife was a slave, which meant she was under the “power and control of her mistress” who might order her either to give the kind of evidence that would convict her husband “or face being sold to the dreaded slave traders of the Deep South.”




Prosecuting attorney Burr H. Harrison loaded his musket and fired back. There was no such thing as lawful marriage for slaves, he argued, making it impossible to apply the common-law rule that spouses in civil and criminal prosecutions could not present evidence that, in the future, might incriminate each other. Slaves, he pointed out, were property, not persons, and could make no contracts that their owners “may not annul.”




But defense attorney John Janney refused to back down even in the face of Harrison’s harsh nineteenth-century truths. He pointed out that Maria Gant had been married with the consent of her mistress, in her mistress’s house, with the implied consent of her master, and joined by a minister of the gospel. Holding that there was such a thing as slave marriage, Janney insisted, would lead to the “general corruption of morals and the most enormous abuses. Can it be possible that the whole colored population of Virginia are living in a state of concubinage?…Maria is the lawful wife of the prisoner; and it is a point well established that in a case like this, the testimony of a wife cannot be taken either for or against her husband.”




No panel of American justices had heard seriously presented arguments quite like these, and no slavery-era U.S. court was likely to hear them again. They ignored the definition of “wife,” which, in nineteenth-century America, didn’t include enslaved women, who could be raped or even killed with no consequences. They also ignored all the other black men—and white ones, too—who’d been whipped, jailed, kidnapped, beaten almost to death, sold or hanged for rescuing spouses and other slaves.




However, Virginia courts didn’t always render paint-by-the-numbers decisions. Like other southern magistrates, Virginia jurists sometimes insisted on fair in-court procedures to bolster their argument that slavery was a humane and merciful system. In Prince Edward County, Virginia, a freed black man and former house slave named Syphax Brown sued a white man for shooting some of his hogs. He won damages. In nearby Nottoway County, an enslaved man was acquitted of assaulting his mistress with a rock. Even though the alleged victim made her accusations while pointing to a gash in her head, the court still set the enslaved man free. Moreover, as author Melvin Patrick Ely has noted, Virginia was not only a state that surrounded free blacks with walls of laws and strangling restrictions, it also was a state with a tradition of sometimes easy one-on-one relations between individual blacks and whites, who sometimes played cards, drank liquor, ate and even slept together without any consequences.




All the same, there must have been more than one shocked face in the courtroom when a judicial panel decided to allow Maria Gant to leave the stand without testifying. It was an awesome decision. For the first time in the state of Virginia, a marriage involving a slave had been recognized as legitimate. The testimony of a second black witness was rejected, as well, primarily because the man couldn’t give a coherent account of whatever he’d seen or thought he’d seen. It had not been quite daybreak, he said, when he saw a man who might or might not have been the defendant in suspicious circumstances. As a result, Nelson Gant, a man who apparently looked taller once he became free, escaped prison for freeing his wife. Even after all these years, it remains a stunning decision.




There were no hard-shelled antislavery men on the judicial panel, whose members included Thomas Saunders, Noble S. Braden, Joshua Pusey, David Reece and Addison H. Clark. Braden belonged to the mostly Quaker Loudoun Manumission and Emigration Society, which had emancipated some blacks to Liberia, West Africa, a move supported by many white Virginians but rejected by some blacks. Pusey not only owned slaves; one had escaped from him by pretending to be the servant of the white woman traveling with him. And eventually John Janney would own slaves, too.




Victoria Robinson, a descendant of the Gants, believes Nelson and Maria might have benefited from their links to prominent and well-connected people. Defense attorney John Janney, for instance, belonged to one of the most respected families in Virginia. He was a tall, spare man who was among thirty-eight Loudoun County citizens who filed a petition in 1842 calling the laws against free black residency “unjust, oppressive and contrary to the moral sense of this community.” When Virginia held a convention to decide whether to leave the Union, Janney would head the convention. He also would be a member of the House of Delegates for a dozen years, an elector in four presidential contests, a candidate for the 1840 vice presidential nomination, a lawyer, an orator and, eventually, a slave owner himself. Maria lived in downtown Leesburg and her neighbor was the clerk of the court. Nelson’s friend Samuel Janney operated a girls’ school, published several books and wrote antislavery essays aimed at southern audiences; he also was the first cousin once removed of John Janney.




Yet none of this explains why Nelson Gant walked out of the Loudoun County Courthouse a free man instead of spending from two to ten years in prison. For all his influence, John Janney hadn’t been able to keep a black man named Leonard Grimes out of prison even though the Washington, D.C.–based Underground Railroad conductor had been tried in the same courthouse as Gant and convicted on purely circumstantial evidence of rescuing seven slaves from a Leesburg planter. Maria and Nelson did indeed have influential friends and connections but so did Maria’s owner. The most plausible explanation for Nelson’s acquittal was his wife’s continued insistence before the trial that she had run away on her own and that Nelson had followed her. There was no proof presented during the trial that this wasn’t what had happened, and this particular group of southern jurists had decided to follow the law. The panel’s decision not to pressure Maria into testifying is harder to understand—unless the defense attorneys’ moving rhetoric did indeed humanize Nelson.






CHARLAYE RUSSELL




Unfortunately, love doesn’t necessarily melt, chip or blast away all opposition. Nelson’s acquittal changed nothing for Anna Maria, who remained enslaved. The young woman was taken back to her owner’s house right around the corner from the courthouse and returned to her old life.




Not content with winning his freedom, Nelson decided to make one more appeal to Anna Maria’s owner for her liberty. He couldn’t live without his wife, he told Charlaye Russell. He had to have Anna Maria. Within two months of the trial, Russell finally agreed to free Nelson’s wife for $775, nearly double what the court had said she was worth two months earlier. Gant’s friends in the antislavery movement helped him raise money, and he borrowed about $225 from Thomas Nichols, one of the executors of John Nixon’s estate.




At this point, it didn’t seem possible that Nelson Gant ever would make it to Ohio, much less become one of the state’s richest black men. The money he borrowed from friends had to be repaid; however, every moment he lingered in Virginia he was breaking a law that could return him to slavery. The law ordering all newly freed blacks to leave the state within one year was not always enforced at all times and in all places. Yet the longer Nelson Gant stayed in the Leesburg area, the more likely it was that the ground under his feet could crack open and swallow him. In September 1847, the commonwealth attorney succeeded in getting a grand jury indictment issued for Gant, along with fifteen or so other free Negroes, for remaining in the state of Virginia for more than twelve months after receiving their freedom. That order may not have been served, because in every quarterly court thereafter the bill of indictment was presented again.




For the next three years, the Gants lived in a kind of shadow land in Loudoun County, Virginia, hoping they wouldn’t be noticed as they sweated their way out of debt. In 1846, 1848, 1849 and 1850, Nelson shows up on the personal property tax rolls as living with Samuel Janney and Janney’s son, John. Presumably, he was working off his debt to Thomas Nichols. In June 1850, the grand jury indictment against Gant was dismissed and the couple, along with their twenty-month-old daughter, Mary, finally left Loudoun for the Zanesville, Ohio, area where family and friends waited. The Gants don’t show up in the 1850 census, possibly because their move to Ohio caused them to miss the census taker. Nelson, Anna Maria and their toddler journeyed across the mountains of Virginia until they reached Cumberland, Maryland, and the National Road made of limestone spread thirty feet wide.




The National Road, officially called the Cumberland Road and also known as the National Pike and the Old Pike, was the first and only U.S. road built entirely with federal funds. Drovers walking turkeys, pigs, cows and sheep to market traveled the National Road, and so did farmers carrying wool, tobacco, grain, sugar and cloth to market. Families usually traveled the road in horse-drawn Conestoga wagons, often bright blue and red with white canvas coverings. Others traveled by stagecoach or even on foot. The Gants journeyed 338 miles in all, and it was a dangerous trek: Slave catchers roamed the area, looking out for runaway slaves or anyone they suspected of running off. In case they were questioned, Nelson and Anna Maria carried their freedom papers and their child’s papers.




There were no guarantees that people who had spent decades soul-deep in slavery would know how to manage their own lives. However, Nelson and Anna Maria’s struggles to become free of both debts and enslavement seemed to have prepared them to chase their own ambitions and desires. Nelson Gant had learned many lessons while working on John Nixon’s farm, lessons about planting, fertilizing, protecting crops and also protecting property. He would use all of that knowledge in Zanesville, a city spread over flood plains and hills at the place where the Licking and Muskingum rivers came together.




FINALLY FREE




The couple arrived in the Zanesville area late in the summer of 1850 with only fifty cents. Zane Grey, the Zanesville-born author who wrote many famous westerns, specialized in heroes who had a strong sense of right and wrong and acted on their beliefs. In Zanesville and adjoining Putnam, Ohio, people were as divided as the characters in a Zane Grey novel. Its rivers divided Zanesville into three parts united by the Y bridge, but no bridge could erase the differences slavery had created. Zanesville was generally proslavery, mainly because it had been settled by slavery-supporting people from the southern and middle states. Putnam, which drew more New Englanders, was antislavery. However, blacks and whites from both towns supported the antislavery movement. As a result, some Putnam residents slept with pitchforks to keep proslavery mobs from burning their homes to the ground. Meanwhile, in 1850, black residents of the Zanesville and Putnam area adopted a resolution vowing to “throw the arms of protection around our fugitive brethren and sister, and that we will feed them and clothe them, conceal them and assist them in their escape from the Negro Hounds and bloody men.”




The harsh Fugitive Slave Act of 1850 would further arouse Putnam and Zanesville abolitionists: It not only created a federal system for recapturing fugitive slaves, it made it a crime to refuse to help authorities capture a fugitive slave. As a result, more slaves escaped, heading for free Canada. Nelson Gant and other men and women like him would play key roles in the continued life of the Underground Railroad in Ohio. However, Gant first had to figure out how to feed and house his family.




IN OHIO




He found a job as a gardener for attorney Theodore Converse, producing crops for sale and taking care of Converse’s land. He also bought a farm just west of Zanesville. When Converse died, Nelson continued raising specialty crops. He was a savvy speculator who bought, rented out and sold parcels of land. At times he employed as many as ten workmen. Through hard work and thrift he saved enough money to invest in more land. Between 1860 and 1900, Nelson bought 140 wooded acres in Falls Township bordered by the Licking River and the National Road and just outside Zanesville and had it cleared of hickory, ash, maple, oak and beech trees. On this land, he built a two-story brick house. Nelson raised vegetables and fruits on his farm, which he named Pataskala, an Indian name for the Licking River. He also owned 160 acres in Springfield Township where he had a strip coal mine and farmland. Sometimes he sold or rented land to others as well.




People from all over the county came to Nelson and Anna Maria Gant’s farm to buy strawberries, cantaloupes, beets, rhubarb, tomatoes, carrots, corn and other produce which he sold from the front of his house. It’s not likely the couple discussed their past financial struggles, their passion for each other or the Virginia court decision that changed their lives. Fruit might have come up, though. Nelson specialized in raising Dresden melons, cantaloupes that can grow as large as small watermelons and have rough, ridged hulls, juicy, sweet fruit and a strong aroma when ripe. They were named for Dresden, Ohio, some twelve miles from Zanesville, where a number of farmers grew them in the region’s low, moist soil. Nelson knew something about promoting products, too: he served strawberries and cream to customers on his front porch. In 1854, he even ran an ad in the Daily Zanesville Courier urging people to visit his home west of Zanesville on the National Road “where plenty of fine strawberries and good milk…can be found, which will be served to his guests in good style and at reasonable prices.” Meanwhile, Anna Maria milked cows and churned the cream, creating the kind of rich, sweet golden butter that has all but disappeared from urban markets. She fed chickens and gathered eggs, sometimes selling chickens at the local market. She also helped out at St. Paul AME Church on Zanesville’s South Street, where Nelson Gant was a trustee and steward.




In Ohio, according to oral tradition, Nelson also took up the battle against slavery, becoming a conductor on the Underground Railroad. He was said to have hidden slaves in his wagon, covering them with his fruits and vegetables and taking them to the next stop on the route to freedom. According to some accounts, he may have allowed them to work in his coal mine to raise money for their journeys. If so, he was not the only one in the area who was in the business of helping runaway slaves. Members of the Putnam Presbyterian Church, where Frederick Douglass once spoke, hid slaves in the church basement, and George Guthrie’s Greek Revival Home at 521 Woodlawn was a known station on the Underground Railroad as well. The Stone Academy, 115 Jefferson Street, was originally built to serve as the seat of newly created Ohio; that never happened but two conventions of the state Abolition Society were held there.




Nelson and Anna Maria Gant spent the rest of their lives in Ohio and became, according to most sources, the parents of twelve children, although AME bishop Daniel Payne claims Maria bore eighteen children in as many years. Neither ever forgot the extraordinary trial that Nelson survived with Maria’s support. In interviews, Nelson credited his wife with “setting him on the Christian path” and for rejoicing with him “when success greeted his efforts” and sympathizing with him “when misfortunes came.”




Though there is no evidence that either Nelson or Maria learned to read and write, the couple seems to have valued both education and good times. Nelson T. Gant, Jr., attended the preparatory department of Oberlin College from 1880 to 1885, followed by four years in the college course, where he received an AB degree. The preparatory department was similar to a modern high school. Sadie Gant attended the preparatory department and the conservatory of music from 1869 to 1871. The Gant family also gained an education from their many accomplished friends, including Bishop Payne, famed abolitionist Frederick Douglass and Martin Delany. At the public sale held after Nelson’s death, the array of goods for sale included much more than cultivators, buggies, horses, plows, wagons, hayforks and tools. There were mirrors, rockers, armchairs, settees, bookcases, carpets, kitchen furniture, a dining table, two sets of dishes, a punch bowl and a sideboard. These and other items suggested the two-story reddish brick Gant house with its winding oak staircase and chandeliers was a place where people celebrated life and shared each other’s joys, including weddings. In October 1889, J. D. Hunnicut, a black resident of the Ninth Ward, married Susie Williams at the Gant house.




In an 1866 edition of the Christian Recorder, published by the African Methodist Episcopal Church, the editor described a visit to Gant’s 160-acre farm one mile and a half from Zanesville. “I spent this day…on one of the best farms in Muskingum county, Ohio: it is worth at least fifty-five thousand dollars and is owned by N.Y. Gant, a colored man born a slave, who left Virginia with only half a dollar in his pocket 15 years ago…. It has the handsomest grove on it to be found in all this region of country. He is educating his daughters finely, though always looking like as if he was at work, his house presents the evidence of refinement, the finest rosewood furniture and appendages of the drawing room are provided by this sturdy black farmer…we spent as happy a day at farmer Gant’s as we ever spent in our lives.”




While visiting her daughter, Sarah, in Yorktown, Virginia, in 1877, Anna Maria died of complications from malaria. Nelson T. Gant and his children and grandchildren were not the only ones who mourned this woman who had both a giving heart and an unbreakable will. According to Bishop Payne’s biography, an Irish woman broke down when told of her death. The woman said that when she needed money to buy a cow to provide food for her children, she had gone from house to house asking for a loan. Everyone turned her down except Anna Maria, who gave her nineteen dollars in gold and told her to repay her if or when she could.




Two years after Anna Maria’s death, Nelson married Lavinia J. Neal, of Parkersburg, a wealthy young woman he met while traveling. The Zanesville Courier gushed that “the trousseau was extensive and beautiful beyond our powers of description.” In Norris Schneider’s account of the wedding, the writer felt compelled to mention that it included two cakes weighing “twenty-two pounds with the icing.” Gant and Lavinia had only one child who lived, Lavinia Logan (Lulu) Gee, who died at age twenty-four in October 1905, the victim of what was called “tubercular meningitis.” An accomplished musician, she had attended the Boston conservatory of music. However, young Lavinia was not part of the Gant legend and neither was her mother.
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